# RECEIVED

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-19-2017 COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP913-CR & 2017AP914-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

AUTUMN MARIE LOVE LOPEZ

and

AMY J. RODRIGUEZ,

Defendants-Respondents.

# APPEALS FROM AN ORDER OF THE GREEN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES R. BEER, PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

The defendants committed seven separate thefts from Walmart over a two-week period. Each individual theft was for merchandise valued between \$126 and \$314. The total amount stolen over the course of the thefts was \$1452.12. Did the complaint describing those seven thefts over two weeks sufficiently show probable cause that Love Lopez and Rodriguez committed a single felony Retail theft<sup>1</sup> of merchandise over \$500 but less than \$5000 under either of two legal theories: (1) because the State has authority to aggregate multiple thefts including Retail thefts into a single charge pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.36; or (2), because the State has the authority to determine the unit of prosecution when individual acts that could be charged separately are part of a single continuing scheme?

The circuit court dismissed the complaint. It determined that even though the seven thefts could be considered a continuing event, Wis. Stat. § 971.36 did not apply, and thus, the seven separate thefts could not be charged as one crime. The circuit court did not consider prosecutorial authority to determine the unit of prosecution as a separate basis for the complaint's sufficiency.

This Court should reverse the circuit court.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State believes the briefs will adequately address the issues and does not request oral argument. Publication

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the interest of clarity, when discussing specifically the statutorily-defined crimes of "Theft" pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 943.20 and "Retail theft" pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 943.50 the State has followed the capitalization scheme in the statutes.

may be warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)2. and (1)(a)5., as there are no Wisconsin cases that directly address the issue, and it is likely to recur.

## **INTRODUCTION**

Autumn Love Lopez and Amy Rodriguez were caught on a surveillance camera scamming Walmart out of merchandise by manipulating Rodriguez's transactions at the self-checkout register. This happened seven times in two weeks. Each transaction resulted in a theft of merchandise valued between \$126 and \$314 dollars. At the end of the two-week period, they had stolen merchandise with a total value of \$1452.12.

The State charged Love Lopez and Rodriguez both with a single felony count of Retail theft of merchandise valued at more than \$500. They objected, claiming that Wis. Stat. § 971.36, which allows multiple thefts to be charged as a single offense, did not apply to "Retail theft." They also claimed that the complaint was duplicitous because the seven transactions over two weeks were not committed at "substantially the same time." The circuit court determined that the two-week period was not too long for the thefts to be considered a continuing transaction, but dismissed the complaint because it believed that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 applied only to charges for "Theft" under Wis. Stat. § 943.20.

This Court should reverse the circuit court. Section 971.36 applies to "any criminal pleading for theft." "Retail theft" is a kind of theft. The statute does not limit itself to "any criminal pleading for Theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.20." Moreover, the other aggregation statutes surrounding Wis. Stat. § 971.36 do contain language limiting them to pleadings for specific statutory crimes. If the Legislature meant for Wis. Stat. § 971.36 to apply only to Wis. Stat. § 943.20, it would have included that limitation in the statute. And even without Wis. Stat. § 971.36, the State had the authority to charge Love Lopez and Rodriguez with a single felony instead of seven misdemeanors. The State has discretion to determine the unit of prosecution when a series of criminal acts are committed by the same parties at substantially the same time as part of a single continuing offense. All of those elements are met here. The circuit court improperly dismissed the complaint in this case.

#### STATUTES AT ISSUE

The statutes at issue, as relevant here,<sup>2</sup> are as follows:

# 971.36 Theft; pleading and evidence; subsequent prosecutions.

(1) In any criminal pleading for theft, it is sufficient to charge that the defendant did steal the property (describing it) of the owner (naming the owner) of the value of (stating the value in money).

(2) Any criminal pleading for theft may contain a count for receiving the same property and the jury may find all or any of the persons charged guilty of either of the crimes.

(3) In any case of theft involving more than one theft, all thefts may be prosecuted as a single crime if:

(a) The property belonged to the same owner and the thefts were committed pursuant to a single intent and design or in execution of a single deceptive scheme;

(b) The property belonged to the same owner and was stolen by a person in possession of it; or

(c) The property belonged to more than one owner and was stolen from the same place pursuant to a single intent and design.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Due to their length, the State has omitted portions of Wis. Stat. §§ 943.20 and 943.50 that are not germane to the issues on appeal.

(4) In any case of theft involving more than one theft but prosecuted as a single crime, it is sufficient to allege generally a theft of property to a certain value committed between certain dates, without specifying any particulars. On the trial, evidence may be given of any such theft committed on or between the dates alleged; and it is sufficient to maintain the charge and is not a variance if it is proved that any property was stolen during such period. But an acquittal or conviction in any such case does not bar a subsequent prosecution for any acts of theft on which no evidence was received at the trial of the original charge. In case of a conviction on the original charge on a plea of guilty or no contest, the district attorney may, at any time before sentence, file a bill of particulars or other written statement specifying what particular acts of theft are included in the charge and in that event conviction does not bar a subsequent prosecution for any other acts of theft.

#### 943.20 Theft.

(1) ACTS. Whoever does any of the following may be penalized as provided in sub. (3):

(a) Intentionally takes and carries away, uses, transfers, conceals, or retains possession of movable property of another without the other's consent and with intent to deprive the owner permanently of possession of such property.

(b) By virtue of his or her office, business or employment, or as trustee or bailee, having possession or custody of money or of a negotiable security, instrument, paper or other negotiable writing of another, intentionally uses, transfers, conceals, or retains possession of such money, security, instrument, paper or writing without the owner's consent, contrary to his or her authority, and with intent to convert to his or her own use or to the use of any other person except the owner. A refusal to deliver any money or a negotiable security, instrument, paper or other negotiable writing, which is in his or her possession or custody by virtue of his or her office, business or employment, or as trustee or bailee, upon demand of the person entitled to receive it, or as required by law, is prima facie evidence of an intent to convert to his or her own use within the meaning of this paragraph.

(c) Having a legal interest in movable property, intentionally and without consent, takes such property

out of the possession of a pledgee or other person having a superior right of possession, with intent thereby to deprive the pledgee or other person permanently of the possession of such property.

(d) Obtains title to property of another person by intentionally deceiving the person with a false representation which is known to be false, made with intent to defraud, and which does defraud the person to whom it is made. "False representation" includes a promise made with intent not to perform it if it is a part of a false and fraudulent scheme.

(e) Intentionally fails to return any personal property which is in his or her possession or under his or her control by virtue of a written lease or written rental agreement after the lease or rental agreement has expired. This paragraph does not apply to a person who returns personal property, except a motor vehicle, which is in his or her possession or under his or her control by virtue of a written lease or written rental agreement, within 10 days after the lease or rental agreement expires.

. . . .

(3) PENALTIES. Whoever violates sub. (1):

(a) If the value of the property does not exceed \$2,500, is guilty of a Class A misdemeanor.

(bf) If the value of the property exceeds \$2,500 but does not exceed \$5,000, is guilty of a Class I felony.

(bm) If the value of the property exceeds \$5,000 but does not exceed \$10,000, is guilty of a Class H felony.

(c) If the value of the property exceeds \$10,000, is guilty of a Class G felony.

(e) If the property is taken from the person of another or from a corpse, is guilty of a Class G felony.

. . . .

#### 943.50 Retail theft; theft of services.

(1m) A person may be penalized as provided in sub. (4) if he or she does any of the following without the merchant's consent and with intent to deprive the merchant permanently of possession or the full purchase price of the merchandise or property: (a) Intentionally alters indicia of price or value of merchandise held for resale by a merchant or property of a merchant.

(b) Intentionally takes and carries away merchandise held for resale by a merchant or property of a merchant.

(c) Intentionally transfers merchandise held for resale by a merchant or property of a merchant.

(d) Intentionally conceals merchandise held for resale by a merchant or property of a merchant.

(e) Intentionally retains possession of merchandise held for resale by a merchant or property of a merchant.

(f) While anywhere in the merchant's store, intentionally removes a theft detection device from merchandise held for resale by a merchant or property of a merchant.

(g) Uses, or possesses with intent to use, a theft detection shielding device to shield merchandise held for resale by a merchant or property of merchant from being detected by an electronic or magnetic theft alarm sensor.

(h) Uses, or possesses with intent to use, a theft detection device remover to remove a theft detection device from merchandise held for resale by a merchant or property of a merchant.

• • • •

(4) Whoever violates this section is guilty of:

(a) Except as provided in sub. (4m), a Class A misdemeanor, if the value of the merchandise does not exceed \$500.

(bf) A Class I felony, if the value of the merchandise exceeds \$500 but does not exceed \$5,000.

(bm) A Class H felony, if the value of the merchandise exceeds \$5,000 but does not exceed \$10,000.

(c) A Class G felony, if the value of the merchandise exceeds \$10,000.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2017, Officer Chris Hammel of the Monroe Police Department responded to Walmart to investigate a report of theft by an employee and an accomplice. (R. 2:1–3, A-App. 101–03.)<sup>3</sup> When he arrived, the Walmart Asset Protection Manager told him that she had been investigating several thefts of merchandise committed during a two-week period in January by Love Lopez and an unidentified woman. (R. 2:5, A-App. 105.)

Love Lopez frequently manned the self-checkout registers. (See R. 2:5–6, A-App. 105–06.) Surveillance videos showed seven occasions where a woman, later identified as Rodriguez, approached a self-checkout register with a cart full of merchandise and was assisted by Love Lopez. (R. 2:5, A-App. 105.) Love Lopez then checked Rodriguez out, but would scan only food items. (R. 2:5, A-App. 105.) Love Lopez would pretend to scan the rest of Rodriguez's items, but would cover the bar code or void the transaction before Rodriguez paid. (R. 2:5, A-App. 105.) On seven days in January 2017, the women stole merchandise worth the following amounts:

- 1. January 10, 2017, \$218.99;
- 2. January 12, 2017, \$313.95;
- 3. January 13, 2017, \$221.46;
- 4. January 16, 2017, \$257.49;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Though these cases have been consolidated, there are two different records on appeal. The record for Love Lopez's case is 2017AP913-CR, and the record for Rodriguez's case is 2017AP914-CR. To avoid confusion, the State will refer to the record for 2017AP913-CR unless otherwise indicated. Citations to documents found in the record for 2017AP914-CR will be indicated by the designation (R2).

- 5. January 19, 2017, \$132.62;
- 6. January 20, 2017: \$181.28;
- 7. January 25, 2017: \$126.33.

(R. 2:6, A-App. 106.) The merchandise taken included clothes, housewares, bedding, baby items, detergent, movies, home décor, and other items. (R. 2:5, A-App. 105.) The total value stolen was \$1452.12.<sup>4</sup>

When confronted, Love Lopez admitted the thefts to both the asset protection manager and Officer Hammel but would not tell them who the unidentified woman on the video was. (R. 2:5–6, A-App. 105–06.) Love Lopez explained that the woman on the video was the same person each time, and Love Lopez said she felt she had to help her steal because the woman had something on Love Lopez and her family. (R. 2:5–6, A-App. 105–06.) Hammel arrested Love Lopez. (R. 2:6, A-App. 106.) A few days later, the asset protection manager saw the woman from the surveillance videos at the customer service desk. (R. 2:8, A-App. 108.) The customer service employees said that the woman's name was Amy Rodriguez. (R. 2:8, A-App. 108.) The asset protection manager called the police. (R. 2:8, A-App. 108.) Police found Rodriguez at her home and arrested her. (R. 2:9, A-App. 109.) After waiving her constitutional rights, Rodriguez told police that her boyfriend and Love Lopez's husband are cousins. (R. 2:9, A-App. 109.) Rodriguez said she frequently used the self-checkout registers and needs assistance checking out due to carpal tunnel syndrome. (R. 2:9, A-App.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The exhibits attached to the criminal complaint allege that the total value of the merchandise taken was \$1489.15, but that is not the total reached by adding the seven respective amounts, which is \$1452.12. (R. 2:11–12.) The discrepancy does not affect the outcome of this case; therefore, the State will assume that the total amount stolen was \$1452.12.

109.) She claimed Love Lopez was the only employee willing to help her, and she denied taking anything without paying. (R. 2:9, A-App. 109.)

The State charged Love Lopez and Rodriguez with Retail theft of merchandise with a value of more than \$500 but less than \$5000 as a party to a crime pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 943.50(1m)(c) and (4)(bf), a Class I felony. (R. 2:1, A-App. 101.) Both defendants objected to the complaint. They claimed that the single felony charge was unsubstantiated by the complaint's description of the seven separate instances of theft of merchandise less than \$500, but they did so on different grounds. (*See* R. 6:1, A-App. 111.)

Love Lopez acknowledged that multiple thefts can be charged as one continuing act pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.36(3)(a) if "[t]he property belonged to the same owner and the thefts were committed pursuant to a single intent and design or in execution of a single deceptive scheme." (R. 6:1, A-App. 111 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 971.36(3)(a)).) She claimed, however, that Wis. Stat. § 971.36(3)(a) was applicable only to charges of Theft pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 943.20. (R. 6:1, A-App. 111.) She maintained that section 973.36 does not apply to Retail Theft. (R. 6:1, A-App. 111.) Instead, she argued that the State could charge her with either a single Class A Misdemeanor for theft by employee of less than \$2500 as a single continuing scheme under Wis. Stat. § 943.20(3)(a), or with seven Class A Misdemeanors for seven separate charges of Retail Theft less than \$500 pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 943.50(4)(a). (R. 6:2, A-App. 112.) What the State could not do, she claimed, was aggregate the seven separate instances and charge her with a single Class I Felony count of Retail Theft pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 943.50(4)(bf). (R. 6:2, A-App. 112.)

Rodriguez argued that the complaint "aggregates these offenses without clear legal authority." (R2. 7:1.) She claimed that therefore the charge was duplicitous and violated her rights to due process and protection from double jeopardy.<sup>5</sup> (R2. 7:1.)

The State disagreed with both defendants' contentions. The State pointed out that the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 971.36 does not limit it to any specific statutory type of theft. It contrasted this to several nearby aggregation statutes that limited the types of crimes that could be aggregated. (R. 8:1, A-App. 118.) The State also noted that neither Rodriguez's brief nor the cases she cited addressed section 971.36 or theft matters at all. The State argued that the cases Rodriguez cited, in particular State v. Lomagro, 113 Wis. 2d 582, 335 N.W.2d 583 (1983), actually established an alternative ground for the State to aggregate these thefts: the State's prosecutorial discretion to charge separately chargeable offenses as a single crime if they were committed by the same person at substantially the same time as part of a single continuing scheme or transaction. (See R. 8:2, A-App. 119 (quoting Lomagro, 113 Wis. 2d at 589).) The State argued that, consequently, the defendants' motions should be denied based either on the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 971.36 or the State's inherent authority to charge these thefts as one continuing transaction. (R. 8:2, A-App. 119.)

The circuit court granted the defendants' motions to dismiss the complaints but did so without prejudice. (R. 21:21, A-App. 147.) It determined that the two-week period over which the thefts occurred was not too long for the thefts to be charged as a continuing offense. (R. 21:20, A-App. 146.) But the court observed that in its experience the Legislature "put everything in but the kitchen sink, if they wanted it to apply to everything." (R. 21:20, A-App. 146.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At the subsequent hearing on the motions, Rodriguez also argued that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 was ambiguous and therefore the rule of lenity should apply. (R. 21:19, A-App. 145.)

Ergo, because the statute did not specifically mention Retail theft, the court found that the reference to "thefts" in Wis. Stat. § 971.36 was intended to apply to only the crime of Theft pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 943.20. (R. 21:20–21, A-App. 146–47.) The State appeals.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The sufficiency of a complaint presents a question of law, reviewed de novo. *State v. Manthey*, 169 Wis. 2d 673, 685, 487 N.W.2d 44 (Ct. App. 1992).

Whether the complaint is sufficient here depends on whether Wis. Stat. § 971.36 applies to the crime of Retail theft; this question requires this Court to interpret Wis. Stat. § 971.36. Statutory interpretation presents a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Hemp*, 2014 WI 129, ¶ 12, 359 Wis. 2d 320, 856 N.W.2d 811.

Alternatively, the State alleges it had discretion to charge this series of acts as a single continuous event even without the statute, which requires this Court to evaluate whether doing so would violate the constitutional prohibition against duplicitous charges. Whether a complaint is duplicitous is a question of law this Court reviews de novo. *See State v. Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d 244, 249, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988).

#### ARGUMENT

The State had the authority to charge Love Lopez and Rodriguez with a single count of felony Retail theft for the seven separate transactions either by virtue of Wis. Stat. § 971.36, which allows aggregation of thefts, or by virtue of the State's authority to determine the unit of prosecution for acts committed as part of a continuing scheme.

#### A. Controlling legal principles

"A complaint establishes probable cause if it sets forth facts sufficient to permit an impartial judicial officer 'to make the judgment that the charges are not capricious and are sufficiently supported to justify bringing into play the further steps of the criminal process." State v. Chinavare, 185 Wis. 2d 528, 533, 518 N.W.2d 772 (Ct. App. 1994) (citation omitted). "When the sufficiency of a criminal complaint is challenged, the alleged facts in the complaint must be sufficient to establish probable cause, not in a hypertechnical sense, but in a minimally adequate way through a common sense evaluation by a neutral magistrate making a judgment that a crime has been committed." State v. Dekker, 112 Wis. 2d 304, 310, 332 N.W.2d 816 (Ct. App. 1983).

Here, the complaint had to allege sufficient facts to establish probable cause that: (1) Lopez and Rodriguez intentionally transferred merchandise; (2) the merchandise was held for resale by a merchant; (3) the defendants knew the property was merchandise held for resale by a merchant; (4) they took the property without the merchant's consent; (5) the defendants knew the merchant did not consent; and (6) they intended to deprive the merchant permanently of possession or the full purchase price of the merchandise. *See* Wis JI—Criminal 1498. If those elements are met and the value of the merchandise stolen was more than \$500, the offense is a Class I felony. *Id.* The circuit court in this case determined that the complaint against Love Lopez and Rodriguez did not establish probable cause that the two committed felony Retail theft because no single theft of the seven was for merchandise with a total value exceeding \$500.

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