RECEIVED

12-20-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case Nos. 2017AP000913-CR 2017AP000914-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

AUTUMN MARIE LOVE LOPEZ

and

AMY J. RODRIGUEZ,

Defendants-Respondents.

Appeal from an Order of the Green County Circuit Court, the Honorable James R. Beer, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT AUTUMN MARIE LOVE LOPEZ

TRISTAN S. BREEDLOVE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081378

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8384 breedlovet@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent Autumn Marie Love Lopez

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does Wis. Stat. § 971.36 or prosecutorial charging discretion allow for seven separate acts of retail theft of merchandise valued at \$126-\$314 each and committed over a two-week period, to be charged as a single count of felony retail theft of merchandise totaling \$1,452.12?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Publication may be warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)2 because a decision from this court may clarify whether Wis. Stat. § 971.36 applies to crimes other than Wis. Stat. § 943.20 theft.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state's discussion of the facts and procedural history are accurate. Facts will be discussed and elaborated on as needed in the argument section.

ARGUMENT

The state cannot charge seven retail thefts totaling \$126-\$314 each and committed over a two-week period, as one single felony because Wis. Stat. § 971.36 does not apply to retail theft and because the state lacks inherent authority to charge the acts together. Further, grouping the acts raises duplicity concerns.

A. Introduction and standard of review.

The defendants in this case were each charged with one count of felony retail theft, as party to a crime, in violation of Wis. Stats. §§ 943.50, 939.05. The complaint alleges they stole items from Walmart on seven separate occasions between January 10, 2017, and January 25, 2017. (2:5). Each allegation involved merchandise valued between \$126 and \$314. (2:6). Rather than charge these acts as misdemeanors, the state aggregated the transactions into one count for purposes of calculating the retailer's loss thereby increasing the penalty from misdemeanor to felony under Wis. Stat. § 943.50.

The circuit court correctly held the state had no authority to charge these acts as one single felony because Wis. Stat. § 971.36 does not apply to acts of retail theft. Further, the state lacked inherent authority to charge the acts, which were not committed at substantially the same time and which were not part of a continued transaction, as one crime and doing so raises duplicity concerns.

Cases 2017AP000913-CR and 2017AP000914-CR were consolidated. Citations are to the Love Lopez record, 2017AP000913-CR, unless otherwise indicated.

Whether Wis. Stat. § 971.36 applies to retail theft is a question of statutory interpretation. Statutory interpretation presents a question of law for this court to review de novo. *State v. Hemp*, 2014 WI 129, ¶ 12, 359 Wis. 2d 320, 856 N.W.2d 811. The question of whether the charge is duplicitous or raises duplicity concerns is also a question of law for this court to review de novo. *State v. Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d 244, 249, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988).

B. The state could not aggregate the seven acts into one single felony because Wis. Stat. § 971.36 aggregation does not apply to retail theft.

The circuit court in this case ruled that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 only allows for aggregation of acts of "theft" and not acts of "retail theft." (21:20-21). The circuit court was correct – Wis. Stat. § 971.36 does not allow for the aggregation of multiple acts of retail theft.

Statutory interpretation begins with the plain language of the statute, which is given "its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. If the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, the statute is applied according to its plain meaning and further interpretation is unnecessary. *Id.* at ¶ 46. If the statutory language is deemed ambiguous, courts may look to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes and may examine extrinsic sources such as legislative history. *Id.*

Wisconsin Statute § 971.36(3) states that in any case of theft and involving more than one theft, all thefts may be prosecuted as a single crime if the property belonged to the same owner and the thefts were committed pursuant to a single deceptive scheme. But the statute is specific to theft as defined in Wis. Stat. § 943.20 and does not allow the state to

aggregate claims of retail theft to reach the felony threshold. The language of Wis. Stat. § 971.36 is unambiguous – it discusses "theft," which has a distinct definition in Wisconsin Statutes, and does not mention retail theft. Retail theft is a separate crime from theft, with a distinct name, distinct statute section, distinct elements, and distinct monetary cutoff and penalty structure.

The state ignores the plain language of the statute which is entitled "Theft, pleading and evidence; subsequent prosecutions" and which specifically states it applies to "any criminal pleading for theft." Theft is defined by and discussed in Wis. Stat. § 943.20. The defendants in this case were charged not with theft, but with retail theft under Wis. Stat. 943.50, which is entitled "Retail theft, theft of services."

Not only do theft and retail theft arise under different statutes, they also have different elements. The elements of theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.20 are:

- (1) The defendant intentionally took and carried away movable property of another.
- (2) The owner of the property did not consent to taking and carrying away the property.
- (3) The defendant knew that the owner did not consent.
- (4) The defendant intended to deprive the owner permanently of the possession of the property.

Wisconsin Criminal Jury Inst. 1441.

There are two additional elements the state must prove for a conviction of retail theft - (1) the property was merchandise held for resale by a merchant, and (2) the defendant knew that the property was merchandise held for resale by a merchant. Wisconsin Criminal Jury Inst. 1498.

Further, theft and retail theft have different penalty structures with different monetary cutoffs. For theft, the monetary cutoffs read as follows:

- (3) PENALTIES. Whoever violates sub. (1);
- (a) If the value of the property does not exceed \$2,500 is guilty of a Class A misdemeanor.
- (bf) If the value of the property exceeds \$2,500 but does not exceed \$5,000, is guilty of a Class I felony.
- (bm) If the value of the property exceeds \$5,000 but does not exceed \$10,000, is guilty of a Class H felony.
- (c) If the value of the property exceeds \$10,000, is guilty of a Class G felony.

Wis. Stat. § 943.20.²

The monetary cutoffs for retail theft differ and read:

- (4) Whoever violates this section is guilty of:
- (a) Except as provided in sub. (4m), a Class A misdemeanor, if the value of the merchandise does not exceed \$500.
- (bf) A Class I felony, if the value of the merchandise exceeds \$500 but does not exceed \$5,000.
- (bm) A Class H felony, if the value of the merchandise exceeds \$5,000 but does not exceed \$10,000.

² Inapplicable subsections (3)(d) and (e) not listed.

(c) A class G felony, if the value of the merchandise exceeds \$10,000.

Wis. Stat. § 943.50(4).

Given that the crimes have different names, are discussed in separate statutes, have different elements, and have different monetary cutoffs and penalty structures, it is not reasonable to assume that the Legislature meant to include "retail theft" when it stated Wis. Stat. § 971.36 allows for aggregation of any "theft."

If the court disagrees with the defendants and finds the statute ambiguous, the rule of lenity should apply. *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 59, ¶ 13, 262 Wis. 2d 167, 663 N.W.2d 700 ("When there is doubt as to the meaning of a criminal statute, a court should apply the rule of lenity and interpret the statute in favor of the accused.").

Case law also supports the defendants' position that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 only applies to Wis. Stat. § 943.20 thefts and not to retail theft. Every case found by counsel that endorses aggregation of acts into a single crime under Wis. Stat. § 971.36 has been in the context of prosecution for theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.20. See e.g. State v. Jacobsen, 2014 WI App 13, 352 Wis. 2d 409, 842 N.W.2d 365; State v. Elverman, 2015 WI App 91, 366 Wis. 2d 169, 873 N.W.2d 528. The circuit court noted that in 21 years on the bench, it had never seen multiple acts of retail theft combined under Wis. Stat. § 971.36 to make one felony. (21:20). Counsel too is unaware of any published case that has stated that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 allows for aggregation of acts of retail theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.50, which is what the defendants here were charged with.

The state asserts that the Legislature created multiple types of theft under different names and statutes to "criminalize acts that would not otherwise neatly fit into the definition of 'theft' under Wis. Stat. § 943.20." (State's Br. at 14-15). It asserts this means various types of crimes including retail theft, "theft of trade secrets" under Wis. Stat. § 943.205, "theft of commercial mobile service" under Wis. Stat. § 943.455, and many more, all fall under the "theft" umbrella and thus Wis. Stat. § 971.36 applies to any and all of these crimes. (State's Br. at 14, n. 6, 17). But the fact these various crimes have different names and are covered by different statutes actually support the opposite conclusion, that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 does not apply to these other crimes.

First, if the Legislature intended for § 971.36 to apply to all these types of crimes including retail theft, why did it only mention "theft" in Wis. Stat. § 971.36? Further, the crimes mentioned by the state have different elements and different penalty structures from one another and from those of Wis. Stat. § 943.20 suggesting the Legislature intended for them all to be treated differently.

The state says that the fact that some modes of commission of retail theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.50 match modes of commission of theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.20 mean that the Legislature intended for retail theft to be considered a type of "theft." (State's Br. p. 17-18). This argument is problematic for multiple reasons. First, the state ignores the fact that retail theft has additional elements the state must prove beyond those necessary for theft. Additionally, the different penalty structures contradict the state's argument. If retail theft is just a subset of theft, the defendant should get the benefit of the more lenient penalty structure of Wis. Stat. § 943.20 which only allows for felony charges for amounts over \$2,500. The fact that the Legislature chose a different

penalty structure for retail theft indicates it is a distinct crime and is not simply a subset of "theft" under Wis. Stat. § 943.20.

It makes little sense to assume that the Legislature intended for Wis. Stat. § 971.36 which refers to "theft," with a penalty structure that requires a misdemeanor charge for amounts below \$2,500, to also allow for counts of retail theft with a penalty structure that allows felony charges for merchandise valued at \$500 or more to be combined under Wis. Stat. § 971.36. If the Legislature meant to authorize the altering of the penalty structure of Wis. Stat. § 943.50 or any other statute, through aggregation, it would have said so in Wis. Stat. § 971.36.

The state hypothesizes that the Legislature wrote Wis. Stat. § 971.36 to "prevent habitual offenders from escaping harsher penalties by stealing a series of small amounts instead of stealing all of the property or services at once" and must want to do the same for retail theft. (State's Br. at 22). The problem is that the Legislature has not said this and the state is only assuming it is the case. The state says that the penalty structure of Wis. Stat. § 943.50 shows that the Legislature intended for counts of retail theft to be combined for a higher charge. But as discussed above, the differing penalty structures of Wis. Stats. §§ 943.20 and 943.50 actually indicate that the Legislature would like the two types of crimes to be treated and punished differently, leading to the conclusion that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 does not apply to Wis. Stat. § 943.50 because it says nothing about retail theft.

The facts of this case illustrate how a defendant is treated differently if subject to a charge of theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.20 versus a charge of retail theft under

Wis. Stat. § 943.50. The defendants here stole from Walmart on seven separate occasions. On each occasion they stole between \$126 and \$314 worth of merchandise with the total amount of merchandise for all occasions being \$1,452.12. If the state had aggregated the counts into one charge of theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.20, the state would only have been able to charge the defendants with a Class A misdemeanor because the penalty structure for Wis. Stat. § 943.20(3)(a) states that if the value of the property does not exceed \$2,500, the defendant is guilty of a Class A misdemeanor. Here the state chose to charge the defendants with retail theft, not theft, and the penalty structure for retail theft states that if the value of the merchandise does not exceed \$500, the individual can only be found guilty of an A misdemeanor. If the state were allowed to aggregate claims of retail theft pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.36, the state would be able to charge the defendants with a felony because the value of all merchandise together exceeds \$500. See § 943.50(4)(bf).

The misdemeanor/felony distinction is important. A felony conviction can make it difficult for a person to secure housing or employment. Further, felony convictions prevent an individual from possessing a firearm or voting and can have significant immigration consequences.

The problem with the state's argument is that it allows for manipulation of the penalty structures by the state. Wisconsin Statute § 971.36 applies to theft as covered by Wis. Stat. § 943.20. The Legislature may very well have elected to allow for aggregation of claims of theft because under the penalty structure of § 943.20 it takes merchandise of significant value to be stolen to reach the felony threshold. The same is not true for retail theft which allows for felony charges if the merchandise in question is worth more than \$500. The state wants this court to adopt an interpretation of

Wis. Stat. § 971.36 that makes it yet easier for an individual to be charged with a felony. Presumably the Legislature would have been clear in discussing retail theft in Wis. Stat. 971.36 if it wanted it to be even easier for defendants to be charged with felonies.

The state wants to have its cake and eat it too. It states that retail theft is a subset of theft and thus Wis. Stat. § 971.36 aggregation applies. But then why not simply charge it as theft and combine the counts under Wis. Stat. § 971.36? The reason the state does not want to do that is because doing so would mean that the defendants would only be charged with a single misdemeanor as the merchandise was worth less than \$2,500. The state may not like that it cannot aggregate separate acts to reach the \$500 threshold in Wis. Stat. § 943.50, but without an indication to the contrary, that was the Legislature's intent. The state cannot simply assume the Legislature wanted it to be easier to charge individuals with felonies and use that as basis to assume language that is not in Wis. Stat. § 971.36 is actually there and that the statute applies to acts other than "theft."

Case law also contradicts the state's position that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 applies to retail theft, "theft of trade secrets," and other crimes. If the state is correct that all these other crimes are all subsets of theft and Wis. Stat. § 971.36 allows for multiple counts of any of them to be combined into one offense, then why are there no Wisconsin cases stating that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 applies to any of those offenses? Wisconsin Statute 971.36 has been in the Wisconsin statutes in its current form since 1955, it seems strange that there would be no cases stating it applies to crimes other than "theft" in the last 60+ years if it in fact so applies.

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